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L INTRODUCTION

This putative class action arises out of Plaintiffs’ investment in the
Optimal Strategic U.S. Equity fund (“Optimal U.S.”), which in turn invested one-
hundred percent of its assets with Bernard L. Madoff (“Madoff”) and his firm,
Bernard L. Madoff Investment Securities LL.C (“BMIS”). Plaintiffs’ Second
Amended Complaint (“SAC”) alleges that Defendants — Optimal U.S.’s investment
advisor, an employee thereof, and two closely-affiliated Banco Santander entities —
failed to conduct adequate diligence regarding Madoff, ignored “red flags” that
should have alerted them to Madoff’s fraud, and made misstatements and
omissions in connection with the sale of Optimal U.S. shares, causing Plaintiffs to
lose their investments and allowing Defendants wrongfully to collect management
fees. Defendants now move to dismiss all fifteen counts asserted in the SAC,

including thirteen state law and two federal securities law claims.
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.  BACKGROUND*
A. The Funds and Sub-Funds (Non-Parties)

Optimal U.S. and Optimal Arbitraddd. (together, the “Funds”) are
sub funds of Optimal Multiadvisors, Ltd. (“Optimal Multiadvisors”), an investment
fund incorporated in the @amonwealth of the BahamasOptimal Multiadvisors
offered non-voting participating shares (ff@pating Shares”) in Optimal U.S. to
Plaintiffs and other similarly situatedvestors, each share constituting a pass-
through economic interest proportional te flaintiff's investment with Madoff.

B. Defendants

There are four named defendants in this action.

Banco Santander, S.A. (“Ban&antander”), headquartered in
Madrid, Spain, is the parent comparfyGrupo Santander, one of the largest
financial conglomerates in the wofld.

Optimal Investment Management Services, S.A. (“OIS”), an

investment management company incogped in Switzerland, is a wholly-owned

! Unless otherwise noted, all facts are drawn from the SAC and

presumed true for the purposes of this motion.
2 SeeSAC 11 69, 70.
3 See idq 71.
4 Seeid. 1 65.



subsidiary of Banco SantandeOIS owned all ordinary voting shares (“Voting
Shares”) of Optimal Multiadvisots@nd served as the investment manager of
Optimal U.S’

Banco Santander International (f8@ander U.S.”) is also a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Banco Santandexadquartered in Miami, Floridalt
conducts business in the United States as an Edge Act corporation organized under
Section 25A of the Federal Reserve Act.

Jonathan Clark was employed in New York by OIS and Santander
Investment Securities, Inc. (“Santéer Investment”) from mid-2003 until mid-
2008 Clark reported to Hugh-Burnaby Atkins, the head of OIS’s New York

office, and to Manuel Echeverria, pal U.S.’s original tie to Madoff: Hired in

> Seeid. 1 67.

° See idq 70.

! See idf 4.

8 Seead. 1 66.

9 12 U.S.C. 88 611 et seq.
10 SeeSAC 1 68.

11

See id.In the 1990s, when Optimal U.S. began investing Plaintiffs’
assets with Madoff, Echeverria servechaad of Banco Santander’s International
Private Banking Division’s Portfolio Megement and Fund Management Group.
Seeid. ¥. In 2001, the International PriteaBanking Division was renamed OIS
and established as a subsidiary of &B8antander (rather than merely an
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2003 to monitor Madoff, Clark, togetheith Atkins, “handled [Optimal U.S.]
day-to-day.*
C. Plaintiffs

1. “Pioneer” and “Pioneer Plaintiffs”

The “Pioneer Plaintiffs” are fifty-six non-U.S. persons and entities
who invested in Optimal U.S. basedaivice provided by Pioneer International
Ltd. (“Pioneer”), an investment advisoiiym incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands with principal headquarters in Hdigt, Israel; Pioneer’s advice was in turn
based on Defendants’ misrepresentatidnghe Pioneer Plaintiffs are residents
primarily of Israel, the Island of Guernsey, the British Virgin Islands, and
Colombia; the remainder are resideoit$anama, Mexico, Switzerland, the
Netherlands, and the Island of Jer§ky.

Pioneer and Optimal Multiadvisorsegparties to a Private Placement
Agreement (“PPA”) that “regulates andntrols the contractual relationship

between [Optimal Multiadvisors] . . nd Pioneer [], as hon-exclusive private

unincorporated entity); functionallittle, if anything, changedSee id{ 5.
12 Id. 1 68.
13 Seead. 11 11-60.

14

Sedd. 11 12-60. The Island of Jersey is a British Crown Dependency
off the coast of Normandy, France.
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placement agent, for the Private Placement of the Optimal Ftmd$ig PPA
provides that “[ijn consideration of the services provided by [Pioneer], [Optimal
Multiadvisors] shall pay a placement fee based on the net investment value [of
Optimal U.S.] as of month end” to be “calculated monthly by [Optimal
Multiadvisors], and paid quarterly . . 2" The last section of the PPA contains a
forum selection clause:

19. Applicable Law and Jursidiction

. Each of the parties heratoevocably submits any disputes

which may arise from th agreement to thexclusive jurisdiction

of the courts of the Gomonwealth of The Bahamds.

2.  “Santander Plaintiffs” '8

The “Santander Plaintiffs” athree foreign citizens/non-U.S.

residents including Solange BroccdBaston Broccoli, and Hugo Valentin

Galinanes? Although all three held their Optimal U.S. investments in accounts

15 Ex. C to Declaration of Paulo R. Lima, counsel for Defendants, in
Support of Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss (“Lima Decl.”), 8§ 2 (hereinafter
“PPA”). | may properly consider Defendants’ evidentiary submissions to
determine whether this Court is the proper forum for this actsae infraPart
IV.A.

16 PPA S 7.
v Id. § 19.

18 The Pioneer Plaintiffs and Santander Plaintiffs are referred to
collectively as “Plaintiffs,” with Pioaer separately designated as “Pioneer.”

19 SeeSAC 1 62.



with non-party Santander Bank & Truktd. in the Bahamas (“SBT Bahama$®),
Santander U.S. was responsible for marketing and selling shares of Optimal U.S. to
each of the Santander PlaintiftsSantander U.S. employees based in Miami

would “regularly offer to open bank amants at Santander affiliates in the

Bahamas or Switzerland, aimbest in [Optimal U.S.]#* Individuals opening

accounts at SBT Bahamas (such as thed®det Plaintiffs) were required to sign
“Santander PRIVATE BANKING” “AccounAgreement[s] (including Terms and
Conditions).®® The “Terms and Conditions Governing [SBT] Accoufftai turn
contained a Bahamian forum select@ause under which SBT account-holders

irrevocably submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of The
Commonwealth of The Bahamas in any action or proceeding

20 See idf 252; 4/15/11 Letter from Plaintiffs to the Court in Response
to Questions Posed During 4/13/11 Conference Call (“4/15/11 PI. Letter”) at 2.

2L SeeSAC T 251.See also id] 247 (“Santander U.S. mailed bank
statements, [Optimal U.S.] explanatory memoranda, and other documents relating
to [Optimal U.S.] regardless of whethée investor had an account at Santander
U.S. or at a non-U.S.-basedn&ander banking affiliate.”)d. 251 (“Galinanes
never spoke with anyone from [SBT Bahas]. Nicholas Coubrough and Ximena
Goni were the Santander U.S. bankeh® handled [Solange and Gaston
Broccoli’s] investments.”).

22 Id. 7 253.
28 See idy 254; SBT Bahamas Account Agreement (Including Terms
and Conditions) (“Account Agreement”), Ex. 25 to SAC, at 1.

24 Terms and Conditions Governingé@ounts, Santander Bank & Trust

Ltd. (“SBT Terms & Conditions”), Ex. B to Lima Decl.
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arising out of or relating to th&ccount or this Agreement, and

irrevocably agree that all claims in respect of any action or

proceeding may be heard and determined in those courts.

D. Madoff's Fraud

Madoff raised billions of dollars under the guise of operating an
investment fund, kept secret from the U.S. governiffemhich purportedly
utilized a “split strike conversion” strajg involving the purchase and sale of U.S.
equity securities and optioAs.On December 11, 2008, Madoff admitted that his
investment advisory operatiovas “a giant Ponzi schemé&."There is no record of

BMIS or Madoff having cleared a single purcbas sale of securities at the major

clearing house in this country (the Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation) or

% |d. 8 78 (emphasis added).
26 SeeSAC 1 80.

2t See idy 81. As described in a June 2004 Explanatory Memorandum
(“EM”), this strategy involved purchasing a basket of thirty to forty large
capitalization S&P 100 stocks (to correlate with the general market); purchasing
out-of-the-money or at-the-money S&Rdex put options in the same dollar
amount; and selling out-of-the-money S&B0 Index call options representing a
dollar amount of the underlying index equivalent to the dollar amount of the basket
of shares purchase&ee idf 202 (citing June 2004 EM, Ex. 13 to SAC, at 30-31).
“This strategy aims to limit losses when stock prices decline while still affording
an upside potential that is capped to théastprice of the short call when the stock
prices rise. The long/short call position constitutes a ‘synthetic’ short of the
market, which provides a hedge against the long stock positioliais (uoting
June 2004 EM, Ex. 13 to SAC, at 30-31).

28 Id. 1 83.



any other trading platform on wiidMIS could have reasonably traded
securities? Nor is there any evidence that §df or BMIS ever purchased or sold
any of the options reported to BMIS’s investment advisory investors, such as
OIS

E. Optimal U.S.’s Investment in Madoff; Red Flags

Optimal U.S. began investing Plaintiffs’ assets with Madoff in the late

1990s based on Echeverria’s relationship with Matlofbver the years,
Echeverria continued to increase theds under management with Madoff as
Echeverria’s meetings and visits to dtdf's offices cemented the relationshfp.
These meetings and visits raised numerous red flags about Madoff that Defendants
concealed from Plaintiffs while failing to perform the due diligence they had
agreed to perform pursuant to Optimal U.S. offering docunigrisr example,

Defendants knew (but did not disclpsleat Madoff concealed his advisory

2 Seeidf 81.
% Seeidf 82.
3 Seeid 84.
2 Seeid.

33 Seeid.



business from the SECand from the investment community generailihat

Madoff did not charge an investment management fee, implausibly foregoing
millions in advisory fee&® that Madoff acted as an investment advisor, broker, and
custodian, a highly irregular combinati$rthat Madoff's family members

controlled BMIS? that Madoff refused to providany independent verification of
actual trading? that Defendants’ internal quantitative due diligence software
showed that Madoff’s returns could ria# replicated and were mathematically
implausible?® that, in Defendants’ viewmadoff did not have independent

auditors?* and that Optimal U.S.’s contraatsth Madoff were not executed by the
correct partie4?

F.  False Representations to Pioneer

*  Seeidf1 85-92.

®  SeeidfT 93-99.

% Seeid. 11.00-103.
% Seeid. 1M04-113.
38 Seeid. fML14-118.
¥ Seeid. 1M19-148.
0 Seeid. 11149-161.
% Seeid. 11L62-164.
2 Seeid. 1165-166.



Pioneer, which traditionally did not invest in single manager hedge
funds (such as Madoff), considered investing in Optimal U.S. in late 2007
principally because it believed an ddished and respected large financial
institution (Banco Santander/OIS) hadfpemed and would continue to perform
ongoing due diligence and oversee the investifieBuring a meeting with OIS
representatives on October 29, 20@/eneva, Switzerland, an OIS
representative offered to put Clark, an OIS employee, on the phone, in order to
respond to Pioneer’s questions about Optimal U.S. and due diligence on Madoff.
During the call, Clark stated that he lked out of Banco Santander’s and OIS’s
New York office where he maintainedgrdar contact with the Madoff operation
and monitored Madoff; that Madoff praled “full transparency” to Defendants
who monitored Madoff’s trading on a “segregated account” for Optimal U.S. on a
continuous basis (a falsehood); dhdt Defendants had given Madoff an
investment “mandate” that he executetler their control and daily monitorify.

G. False and Misleading Statements and Omissions in Optimal U.S.
Explanatory Memoranda and Marketing Materials

Defendants sold investments in Optimal U.S. pursuant to EMs that

43 See idy 224-225.
a4 See idq] 227-228.
45 See id{Y 229-230.
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contained no disclosure of Madoff or BMi{&;ontained terse risk disclosurés,

and claimed that OIS made the investment decisions, while the “Broker Dealer”
(Madoff) was merely responsible for executfénn fact, Defendants abdicated all
investment management functions over Optimal U.S. to Madoff while charging full
management fees of millions of dollars per y8abefendants also issued to

Plaintiffs numerous updates, performameports, and marketing and sales

materials that contained “uniform misrepresentations and material omissions that
induced Plaintiffs to invest and retaimeir investment in [Optimal U.S.7”

Defendants failed to disclose that no one had conducted meaningful due diligence
on Madoff prior to establishing Optimal U.S. and selecting Madoff as an execution
agent and broker for Optimal U.S.; no one was meaningfully monitoring or
independently verifying Madoff's tradg activity; Defendants had effectively no
access to Madoff’s operations; and Defenddnad no independent basis for stating

that Madoff was executing a split-strike conversion strategy.

% Seeidf 194.

" See idf1 195-201.
% Seeidy 203.

49 See idf Y 6, 223.
>0 Id.

>L Seeidf 234.
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H. Defendants’ Involvement in Optimal U.S.

OIS drafted the EMs provided to Optimal U.S. investérgho were
required to acknowledge that they had received such documents as a condition to
buying shares in Optimal U3.To provide reassurance of OIS’s capabilities, the
EMs emphasized that Banco Santander stood behind @i, an October 2008
OIS presentation on Optimal U.S. emphasized that the reason to invest in Optimal
U.S. was its affiliation with Banco SantanderAll EMs and marketing materials
“were distributed by OIS, Santander U.S, and other subsidiaries of Banco
Santander, without regard for corporate structure and formalitigddreover,

Banco Santander and its affiliates wédeeply involved in risk management at
OIS, especially with pect to [Optimal U.S.J>” Finally, in addition to the annual
management fee charged by OIS basethemmarket value of Optimal U.S. each
year — a management fee that OIS shangdl Santander U.S. as compensation for

Santander U.S.’s sales efforts — Sadt&x U.S. charged Plaintiffs a sales

2 See idfY 217-220.
> Seeidf 233.

>* Seeidf 206.

> Seeidf 244.

> Id.

> Id. §] 258.
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percentage of the amount invested atttme of their investment in the Funds.
l. Plaintiffs’ Claims and Defendants’ Arguments

The Pioneer and Santander Plaintiffs assert the following claims: (1)
common law fraud against OIS, Bancateder, and Clark, and negligent
misrepresentation against all four Dadlants, in connection with Plaintiffs’
decisions to purchase and hold Optimal U.S. shares (Counts I-1V); (2) gross
negligence against all Defendants (Count V); (3) breach of fiduciary duty against
OIS and Santander U.S. (Count MB}) aiding and abetting both breach of
fiduciary duty and fraud against Bancan&mder and Santander U.S. (Counts VII-
VIIN); (5) third party beneficiary breach of contract against OIS (Count IX); (6)
unjust enrichment against all Defendants (Count X); (7) violation of section 10(b)
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Attihnd Rule 10b-8
promulgated thereunder against OIS @tark (Count XI); and (8) violation of
section 20(a) of the Exchange Aagainst Banco Santander (Count VII). Pioneer

asserts common law fraud, negligent misrepresentation, and gross negligence

% Seeidf 262.

%  15U.S.C. § 78;.

60 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b5.
. 15U.S.C. § 78t(a).
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claims against OIS, Banco Santan@er Clark (Counts XlII-XIV). Defendants
advance three primary arguments in their motion to disisg:that the
Bahamian forum selection clauses camdl in the PPA and the SBT Terms &
Conditions govern the Pioneer and Santander Plaintiffs’ claetsndthat the
Exchange Act does not apply to the “extraterial” transactions forming the basis
for Plaintiffs’ federal securities claims; atldrd, that Plaintiffs’ common law
claims fail either for lack of standing fwor failure to state a claim. | address each
argument in turn.
lll. LEGAL STANDARDS
A.  Motion to Dismiss

In deciding a motion to dismiss pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil
Procedure 12(b)(6), the court evaluates the sufficiency of the complaint under the
“two-pronged approach” suggested by the Supreme Coashnroft v. Igbaf?

First, a court “‘can choose to begin bymifying pleadings that, because they are
no more than conclusions, are not entitled to the assumption of tftth.”

“Threadbare recitals of the elemenfsa cause of action, supported by mere

62 556 U.S. ---, ---, 129 S.Ct. 1937, 1950 (2009).

8 Hayden v. Patersqrb94 F.3d 150, 161 (2d Cir. 2010) (quotiagal,
129 S.Ct. at 1950)Accord Ruston v. Town Bd. for Town of Skaneatélt3 F.3d
55, 59 (2d Cir. 2010).
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conclusory statements, do not suffite'withstand a motion to dismi&s.Second,
“[w]lhen there are well-pleaded factudlegations, a court should assume their
veracity and then determine whether tipjggusibly give rise to an entitlement for
relief.”® To survive a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss, the allegations in the
complaint must meet a standard of “plausibilit§.A claim is facially plausible
“when the plaintiff pleads factual contehat allows the court to draw the
reasonable inference that the defendsitiible for the misconduct alleged.”
Plausibility “is not akin to a probabilityequirement;” rather, plausibility requires
“more than a sheer possibility tretlefendant has acted unlawfulf.”

“In considering a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim
pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), a district cboray consider the facts alleged in the

complaint, documents attached te tomplaint as exhibits, and documents

®  Igbal, 129 S.Ct. at 1949 (citingell Atl. Corp. v. Twomb|\550 U.S.
544, 555 (2007)).

65 Id. at 1950. Accord Kiobel v. Royal Dutch Petroleum C821 F.3d
111, 124 (2d Cir. 2010).

®%  Twombly 550 U.S. at 564.
o7 Igbal, 129 S. Ct. at 1949 (quotation marks omitted).
68

Id. (quotation marks omitted).
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incorporated by reference in the complaffit. However, the court may also
consider a document that is not incolgded by reference, “where the complaint
‘relies heavily upon its terms and effe¢hereby rendering the document ‘integral’
to the complaint.™
B. Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 9(b)
Rule 9(b) provides that “the circumstances constituting fraud . . . shall
be stated with particularity.” To satisfy the particularity requirement, a complaint

must: “(1) specify the statements that the plaintiff contends were fraudulent, (2)
identify the speaker, (3) state where anegwkhe statements were made, and (4)
explain why the statements were frauduleft.Flowever, “intent, knowledge, and
other conditions of mind nyabe averred generally?

C. Amendments to Pleadings

“Rule 15(a) provides that, other than amendments as a matter of

% DiFolco v. MSNBC Cable L.L.C622 F.3d 104, 111 (2d Cir. 2010)
(citing Chambers v. Time Warner, In@82 F.3d 147, 153 (2d Cir. 2002)).

7 Id. (quotingMangiafico v. Blumenthad71 F.3d 391, 398 (2d Cir.
2006)). Accord Global Network Commc’ns, Inc. v. City of N468 F.3d 150, 156
(2d Cir. 2006).

L Shields v. Citytrust Bancorp., In@5 F.3d 1124, 1128 (2d Cir. 1994)
(quotingMills v. Polar Molecular Corp.12 F.3d 1170, 1175 (2d Cir.1993)).

2 Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b).
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course, a party may amend the party’s pleading only by leave of court or by written
consent of the adverse party; and kakall be freely given when justice so
requires.” “[W]hether to permit a plaintiff to amend its pleadings is a matter
committed to the Court’s sound discretidh.The Supreme Court has explained

that:

[i]f the underlying facts or circumstances relied upon by a plaintiff
may be a proper subject of rdjiene ought to be afforded an
opportunity to test his claim on tineerits. In the absence of any
apparent or declared reason €fsas undue delay, bad faith or
dilatory motive on the part of tmeovant, repeated failure to cure
deficiencies by amendments piaysly allowed, undue prejudice
to the opposing party by virtue aflowance of the amendment,
futility of amendment, etc. — tHeave sought should, as the rules
require, be “freely given’®

“Where it appears that granting leave to amend is unlikely to be productive,
however, it is not an abuse of discretion to deny leave to aniend.”

IV. FORUM SELECTION CLAUSES

& Slayton v. American Express C460 F.3d 215, 226 n.10 (2d Cir.
2006) (quotation marks omitted).

“ McCarthy v. Dun & Bradstreet Corp482 F.3d 184, 200 (2d Cir.
2007) (quotation marks omitted).

> Foman v. Davis371 U.S. 178, 182 (1962Accord, e.g.Jin v.
Metropolitan Life Ins. C9.310 F.3d 84, 101 (2d Cir. 2002).

& Lucente v. International Bus. Machs. Cor@10 F.3d 243, 258
(2d Cir. 2002) (quotation marks and citations omitted).
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A.  Applicable Law’’

Determining whether to dismiss a claim based on a forum
selection clause involves a four-panalysis. The first inquiry is
whether the clause was readolyacommunicated to the party
resisting enforcement. The second step requires [courts] to
classify the clause as mandatory or permisdieg, to decide
whether the parties are requiréa bring any dispute to the
designated forum or simply permitted to do so. Part three asks
whether the claims and parties involved in the suit are subject to
the forum selection clause tlife forum clausezas communicated

to the resisting party, has mataly force and covers the claims
and parties involved in the dispute, it is presumptively
enforceable. The fourth, and finsdep is to ascertain whether the
resisting party has rebutted theesumption of enforceability by
making a sufficiently strong showing that enforcement would be
unreasonable or unjust, or that the clause was invalid for such
reasons as fraud or overreachihg.

In making this four-part determination, a court may rely on “pleadings and

affidavits™ but “[a] disputed fact may be resolved in a manner adverse to the

" Neither the Supreme Court nor the Second Circuit has “specifically

designated a single clause of Rule 1Z$}the proper procedural mechanism to
request dismissal of a suit based uparalid forum selection clauseAsoma

Corp. v. SK Shipping Co., Lidi67 F.3d 817, 822 (2d Cir. 2006) (quotation marks
omitted). In any case, “where one pargs shown an apparently governing forum
selection clause, the party opposing litiga in the so designated forum must
make a strong showing to defeat that contractual commitménht.”

8 Phillips v. Audio Active Ltgd494 F.3d 378, 383-84 (2d Cir. 2007)
(quotation marks and citations omitted).

& Anwar v. Fairfield Greenwich Ltd742 F. Supp. 2d 367, 371
(S.D.N.Y. 2010) (Anwar II") (citing Tropp v. Corp. of Lloyd's385 Fed. App’x
36, 37 (2d Cir. 2010\New Moon Shipping Co., Ltd. v. MAN B & W Diesel AG
121 F.3d 24, 26 (2d Cir. 1997) (noting that district court reviewed “pleadings,
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plaintiff only after an evidentiary heariné’”

Regarding step three, courts apfggneral contract law principles
and federal precedent to discern theaming and scope of the forum clau¥e.”
Under those principles,

when ascertaining the applicability of a contractual provision to

particular claims, [courts] exan@rthe substance of those claims,

shorn of their labels. This approach is consistent with the focus
on factual allegations rather than the causes of action asserted
when deciding whether a [forum selection] clause applies to
particular claims?

B. The Forum Selection Clausén the PPA Between Pioneer and
Optimal Multiadvisors Does Not Bind Pioneer

Defendants OIS, Clark, and BanS8antander move to dismiss
Pioneer’s claims against them for (1) common law fraud, (2) negligent

misrepresentation, and (3) gross negligence on the grounds that those claims “arise

affidavits, and other papers™radeComet.com LLC v. Google, In693 F. Supp.

2d 370, 375 n.3 (S.D.N.Y. 2010) (“In deciding a motion to dismiss [due to a forum
selection clause] pursuant to eithed€&eal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(1) or
12(b)(3), a court may consider evidentiary matters outside the pleadings, by
affidavit or otherwise, regarding the ebeisce of jurisdiction.”) (quotation marks
omitted)).

80 New Moon 121 F.3d at 29.
81 Phillips, 494 F.3d at 386.

8 |d. at 388-89 (internal citations omitted) (citidgM Indus., Inc. v.
Stolt-Nielsen SA387 F.3d 163, 173 (2d Cir. 2004gnesco, Inc. v. T. Kakiuchi &
Co, 815 F.2d 840, 846 (2d Cir. 1987)).
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out of the [PPA] between Pioneer angfal] Multiadvisors, which contains an
exclusive forum selection clause requiring tti@putes be resolved in the courts of
The Bahamas® As a reminder, under that clause, Pioneer “irrevocably submits
any disputes which may arise from this agreemetiie exclusive jurisdiction of
the courts of the Comomwealth of The Bahama¥&:” Defendants argue that
because the damages Pioneer claims it sufi@ude the “loss of fees that would
[have] been earned had the Pioneer Bfésrcontinued to invest in [Optimal

U.S.],” and because those fees are “natfer than the placement fees specifred
the PPA,”® Pioneer’s claims necessarily armet of the PPA and, therefore, are
within the scope of the forum selection claéfs@laintiffs counter that Pioneer’s
claimsare not subject to the forum sdiea clause because the PPA “concerns
only Pioneer’s role as placement agand the commissions that [Optimal

Multiadvisors] paid Pioneer” and because Pioneer is “not suing to recover those

83 Defendants’ Memorandum of Law in Support of Motion to Dismiss

(“Def. Mem.”) at 26-27.
8 PPA § 19 (emphasis added).
8 Def. Mem. at 27 (citing SAC 11 380, 387) (emphasis in original).

8 Pioneer does not dispute that the PPA was “reasonably communicated

to [it]” or that the forum selection clge contained in the PPA is “mandatory.”
Phillips, 494 F.3d at 386 (“A forum selection clause is viewed as mandatory when
it confers exclusive jurisdiction on the dgsated forum or incorporates obligatory
venue language.”).
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commissions and is not suing [Optimal Multiadvisof$].Upon an “examin[ation
of] the substance of [Pioneer’s] claims as they relate to the precise language of the
clause,® | find the forum selection clauseapplicable to Pioneer’s claims.

1. Meaning of “Arise From”

To “arise out of means “to originate fron a specified source,” and
generally indicates a causal connectithThose words do not “encompass]] alll

claims that have some possible relatiopskith the contract, including claims that

87 Plaintiffs’ Memorandum of Law in Opposition to Defendants’ Motion
to Dismiss (“Opp. Mem.”) at 29.

8 Phillips, 494 F.3d at 389 (citinjew Moon 121 F.3d at 33 (“The
scope of the forum selection clause matractual question that requires the courts
to interpret the clause and, wherebaguious, to consider the intent of the
parties.”). Accord John Wyeth & Bro. Ltd. v. CIGNA Intern. Cofd9 F.3d 1070,
1075 (3d Cir. 1997) (“[W]hether or notfarum selection clause applies depends
on what the specific clause at issue says.”)).

8 Phillips, 494 F.3d at 389 (quoting Websters Third New International
Dictionary 117 (1981)) (citingoregis Ins. Co. v. American Health Found., Inc.
241 F.3d 123, 128 (2d Cir. 2001)). Defendashd not argue that this Court should
interpret “arise from” any diffieently from “arise out of.”SeeDef. Mem. at 27
(arguing that “Pioneer’s claims necessaaitise out ofthe PPA . . . .") (emphasis
added). Although Defendants direct the CouRdtdy v. Corporation of Lloyd's
where the Second Circuit found “no subsitandifference . . . between the phrases
‘relating to,’ ‘in connection with’ or ‘aging from,” it made clear that such a
finding was limited to “the present context,” 996 F.2d 1353, 1361 (2d Cir. 1993) —
where the court was considering both arbitration claasd$orum selection
clauses, and where the forum selatttlauses pertained to dispute$ Wwhatsoever
naturearising out oor relating td and for “all purposes of and connection
with” the agreementsgl. at 1359, 1361 (emphases added)any event, the court
treated the words “arising from” as equivalent to “arising out 8¢k idat 1361.

-21-



may only relate tq’ be ‘associated with or ‘arise in connection withthe

contract.® In Phillips v. Audio Active Ltdthe Second Circuitjected the

Seventh Circuit’s conclusion that “all disputes the resolution of which arguably
depend on the construction of an agreement ‘arise out of’ that agreéhmestirig

the “significan[ce]” of “the absence afcongressional policy on forum clauses
prompting us to err on the side of coveratfeThus, thePhillips court “[saw] no

reason to presume the parties meant anything other than the dictionary definition of
the term [“to arise under”]: toriginate from a specified sourc&.™This meaning

Is especially likely where parties wishit@ydesignate a mandatory forum to hear a

broader category of disputes are free to do’50.”

% Phillips, 494 F.3d at 389 (emphasis added).

ot Omron Healthcare, Inc. v. Maclaren Exps. L8 F.3d 600, 603 (7th
Cir. 1994).

%2 Phillips, 494 F.3d at 390 (acknowledging that “[l]ike the Seventh
Circuit, typically we view phrases similar to ‘arise outiofarbitration clausego
cover collateral matters that implicassues of contract construction,” but
“declin[ing] to import whole the interptiee guidelines developed by the federal
courts to assess the scope of arbitratianses into the present context” because
“[oJur assessment of the scope of arbitration clauses is governed by the Federal
Arbitration Act which establishes asnatter of federal law that any doubts
concerning the scope of arbitrable issussusd be resolved in favor of arbitration,
including where the problem at hand is the construction of the contract itself”)
(quotation marks and citatioosnitted) (emphasis added. at 389-90.

% Id. at 390.
o Id.



ThePhillips court then stated the relevant inquiry: “whether
[plaintiff’s] rights” (there, predicated ovalid ownership of copyrights to certain
songs) “originate from” the agreement containing the forum selection tlause
(there, a recording contract providingth‘any legal proceedings that mayise
out of[the contract] are to be brought in Englani§)” The court held that they did
not; plaintiff was “assert[ing] no rights or duties under that contfactherefore,
the federal copyright claims did not “sei out of the contract” and consequently
fell outside the scope of the forum selection clafise.

2. Pioneer’s Claims Do Not “Arise From” the PPA

Applying Phillips’ analytical framework, it ilear that Pioneer does
not assert any rights or duties undex BPA in bringing its fraud, negligent

misrepresentation, or gross negligen@nst. The “substance” of those claims is

% d.

% Id. at 382 (quoting the recording contract at issue) (emphasis added).

o Id. at 392 (“Appellant does not rely on the recording contract to

establish his ownership of the relevanpyrights, but on his authorship of the
work, a status . . . entitled to copyright protection.”) (distinguishing “[plaintiff's]
case from one in which a plaintiff-creator asserts that the relevant copyrights
reverted to him upon breach of contract by the defendarit"at 390-91.

% Cf. Bense v. Interstate Battery Sys. of /83 F.2d 718, 720 (2d Cir.
1982) (forum selection clause that applied to “causes of action adisewjly or
indirectly from [the agreement]” covered fe@dé antitrust actions) (emphasis
added).
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that OIS, Clark, and Banco Santanddsdly represented to Pioneer that OIS

would invest its monies in a legitimate fund and that Defendants would monitor,
verify, and conduct due diligence into the investments made with MEddts.

state these three claimdlleatively, Pioneer must show that Defendants (1)
knowingly made (2) false and misleading misrepresentations and/or omissions; (3)
Pioneer’s justifiable reliance upon those representations; (4) direct and proximate
(5) damages; and (6) Defendants’ dutyaassult of a special relationship, to

impart full and correct information and to exercise due care in the management of
the Pioneer Plaintiffs’ assef$. Based on this recitation, Pioneer’s right to sue on
these claims does not “originate from, and therefore ‘arise out of,” the [PPA}.”
arises out 00DISs, Clark's, andBanco Santandés extra-contractual duties to
accurately represent the manner in whiwh Pioneer Plaintiffs’ monies would be
invested and to invest those monies wdtle care — duties not specified in the PPA,

which instead outlineBioneets dutiesas a placement agefff Moreover, to the

%9 SeeSAC 11 376-393.

10 SeeWynn v. AC Rocheste273 F.3d 153, 156 (2d Cir. 2001) (citing
Lama Holding Co. v. Smith Barney In88 N.Y.2d 413, 421 (1996))ydro
Investors, Inc. v. Trafalgar Power In@27 F.3d 8, 20 (2d Cir. 2000).

101 Pphjllips, 494 F.3d at 391.

102

See, e.gPPA § 3.4 (“[Pioneer] acknowledges and agrees that the
shares or units of [Optimal U.S.] cannotdféered, directly or indirectly, to ‘US
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extent the PPA contains any “representations” by Optimal MultiadVi¥ors,
Pioneer is not suing over them; it isrsgiover the alleged misrepresentations and
omissions contained in the EMs, the marketing materials, and Clark’s
misstatements during a telephone conference on October 29,°2007.

It is true that the “fees thatould [have] been earned” under the PPA
comprise part of the damages Piorssks for Defendants’ alleged fraud and
negligent misrepresentation. But Pionakso seeks damages for loss of business
and reputational damageoreover, the dispute does not centereog, Pioneer’s

“right” to those feesinder the PPA Indeed, without the PPA, Pioneer’s claims

Persons’ as defined in the relevanigpectus or offering memorandum of the
Optimal Funds.”)id. 8 5 (enumerating certain “Rights and Duties of [Pioneer]”);

id. 8 11 (describing the “Duty [of Pieer] to Exercise Due Diligence”Accord
Transcript of Pre-Motion Conference Held on November 4, 2010 (“11/4/10 PMC
Tr.”) at 17:23-18:3 (“There’s nothing [in the PPA] saying that disputes concerning
the sale of shares by the purchasershafres are in any way governed by [the

PPA] in any fashion. There’s nothinghere saying that it applies to anything

other than the finder’s fee to which Pioneer is entitled for selling the fund shares.”)
(Mr. Miller, counsel for Plaintiffs).

103

See, e.gPPA 8§ 12.2(c) (representing that Optimal Multiadvisors is
“duly authorized and licensed . . . by aejevant authority or self-regulatory body
to carry out the activities andrsees covered by [the PPA].”).

104 Accord11/4/10 PMC Tr. at 22:6-7 (“Plaintiffs are suing on the
offering memoranda which contain nado selection clause.”) (Mr. Miller,
counsel for Plaintiffs).
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would be just as tenabl®. For these reasons, | dedito dismiss Pioneer’s claims
for improper venuge?®

C. The Santander Plaintiffs Are Bound by the Forum Selection
Clause Contained in the SBT Terms and Conditions

Defendants argue that the Santander Plaintiffs’ claims should be
dismissed for improper venue based on theltesive forum selection clause in the
SBT Terms & Conditions®” according to which those plaintiffs agreed to
“irrevocably submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of The Commonwealth of The
Bahamas irany action or proceeding arising out of or relating to the Account or

this Agreementand irrevocably agree that alachs in respect of any action or

105 See Phillips494 F.3d at 391 (“Indeed, if [plaintiff] were to succeed in
persuading the trial court of his interfaton of the recording contract, success on
the merits of his copyright claims would leave the recording contract
undisturbed.”).Cf. Bense 683 F.2d at 721-22 (contract containing forum clause
was the source of the right, duty and injury asserted by the plaintiff where plaintiff
could only show injury by demonstnagj that the defendant had breached the
contract by terminating without due cause).

106 Defendants do not move to dismiss Counts XIII-XV for failure to

state claims. However, Defendants intend to file a fanomconvenienmotion,
which this Court advised the parties ibwd entertain following disposition of the
instant motion.SeeDef. Mem. at 29 n.22; 11/4/10 PMC Tr. at 27:19-21.
Therefore, in light of this Court’s holding that the forum selection clause does not
apply to Counts XllI-XV, Defendants maygare, in conjunction with their forum

non conveniensotion (or any renewed motion to dismiss), that the claims
nonetheless should be dismissed under Rule 12(b)(6).

107 Def. Mem. at 29.



proceeding may be heard and determined in those colirt&iven the breadth of
this provision,” Defendants argue, “tBantander [Plaintiffs] cannot plausibly
contest that their claims arise out of their investment accounts with SBT and, as
such, are subject to tfierum selection clause® The Santander Plaintiffs argue
that because they are not suing “fay danking-related reasor’such as money
being “improperly taken out of the account” — their claims are not covered by the
SBT Terms & Conditions, which “conagpnly the handling of bank accounts’”

The Santander Plaintiffs are wrong. The Terms & Conditions make
clear that they govern not only traditional “bank accounts,” but also the Santander
Plaintiffs’ investment accounts held through SBT — the accounts through which

they purchased shes of Optimal U.S* Thus, the question is not whether the

198 SBT Terms & Conditions, Ex. B to Lima Decl., § 78 (emphasis
added). The Santander Plaintiffs do ocomtest the applicability of the SBT Terms
& Conditions to their accountsSeeTranscript of Teleconference Held on April
13, 2011 (“4/13/11 Teleconf. Tr.”) at 11:3-6.

109 Def. Mem. at 29.

10 Opp. Mem. at 3Accord11/4/10 PMC Tr. at 20:14-15 (“[The SBT
Terms & Conditions do not] apply to the investment side of the banking activity at
all.”) (Mr. Miller, counsel for Plaintiffs).

11 SeeSBT Terms & Conditions, Ex. B to Supplemental Declaration of
Paulo R. Lima in Support of Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss (“Lima Supp. Decl.”),
at 3 (defining “Accounts” governed byelTerms & Conditions to include “any
and all accounts maintained by [a cliemiidSBT], including, but not limited to, .

.. deposit accounts . . . and nondiscretiomavgstment management and advisory
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SBT Terms & Conditions apply to the Santander Plaintiffs’ accounts, but whether
this “action” “aris[es] out of or relagfs] to” the Santander Plaintiffs’ investment
accounts with SBT such that “all claims in respect of [this] action” shall be heard
in the courts of The Bahamas.

1. Meaning of “Relating To”

The term “related to” is typically defined more broadly [than the
phrase “arising out of’] and is naecessarily tied to the concept
of a causal connection. Webster’'s Dictionary defines “related”
simply as “connected by reasonaof established or discoverable
relation.” The word “relation,” iturn, as “used esplecially] in the
phrase ‘in relation to,” is defined as a “connection” to or a
“reference” to. Courts have similpdescribed theerm “relating

to” as equivalent to the phrases “in connection with” and
“associated with,” and synonymous with the phrases “with respect
to,” and “with reference to,”ral have held such phrases to be
broader in scope than the term “arising out'&f.”

2. The Santander Plaintiffs’ Action Is “Relat[ed] to” Their
SBT Accounts

The Santander Plaintiffs’ action is “unquestionably ‘connected to,’
‘associated with,” and brought ‘with reference t&their investment accounts

with SBT. The action centers on thpurchases of Optimal U.S. shares upon the

accounts.”).

112 Coregis 241 F.3d at 128-29 (citations omittedccord Wyeth119
F.3d at 1074 (“To say that a dispute ‘arise[s] . . . in relation to’ [an] [a]greement is
to say that the origin of the disjguss related to that agreement[.]”).

113 Coregis 241 F.3d at 130.
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recommendation and through representatofeSantander U.S. in Santander-
affiliated accounts otherwascovered by the SBT Terms & Conditions — accounts
they opened specifically to invest in Optimal U*SIn Anwar 11, Judge Victor
Marrero of this Court similarly concludedat a forum selection clause, contained
in the “Terms and Conditions” applicable to plaintiffs’ bank accounts with the

Singapore Branch of Standard ChartdBahk, covered plaintiffs’ “dispute about
Standard Chartered’s diligence in investigating [a Madoff feeder fund] and its
representations about [that fund}]>” The clause was “brogdworded,” he noted,
“to encompass ‘any dispute arising out of or in connection with these [Terms and
Conditions], any Account, Transaction, or any Servi¢€.’The factual scenario
here is virtually identical.

Moreover, Plaintiffs’ own pleadings evince the extent to which the

Santander Plaintiffs’ SBT accounts are “related to” this action. According to the

SAC, in 2008, when “Banco Santandéiliates implemented certain procedures

14 SeeSAC 11 253-256.

15 742 F. Supp. 2d at 373. Like the Santander PlaintiffsAtivear ||
plaintiffs first signed a “Private Bank Acant Application” in order to open their
accounts which expressly incorporated safe‘terms and conditions” containing
a forum selection clausé&ee idat 372.

116 1d. (quoting the forum selection clause contained in the terms and
conditions at issue in that case).
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that indicated growing concerns abdtadoff,” it was SBT Bahamas — the entity
with which the Santander Plaintiffsldeheir accounts — that executed a waiver
with “private banking clients” who wished to “remain in the fund” (“SBT
Waiver”).'*” Under the SBT Waiver, clients like the Santander Plaintiffs
“accept[ed] the following”:
“[SBT] has informed you that your investment in Optimal U.S.
may exceed the concentrti limits recommended by [SBT],
based specifically irsjc] the investment profile you have selected
for your account with [SBT], for investments in Hedge Funds
managed by one managét?”
In addition, the SBT Waiver expresslyrovided the client the opportunity to
review the clients’ investments andiuee the exposure to Optimal U.S.” and
“provided various opportunities to ask gtiens and receive answers concerning
Optimal U.S.**® The Santander Plaintiffs received these communications — which
form part of the basis for their fraud claimbecausdhey held accounts through

SBT Bahamas that were governed by 3B Terms & Conditions. There can be

no genuine dispute that this action $is] out of or relat[es] to [their]

17 SAC 1 263.

118 |d. 1 264 (quoting the SBT Waiver, Ex. 29 to SAC) (translated to
English).

119 1d. 265 (citing the SBT Waiver).
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Account[s]."#°

Finally, the Santander Plaintiffs are sutBgntander U.S- the entity
whose employees allegedly “regjeoffer[ed] to open bank accounts at
Santander affiliates in the Bahamas oit3&rland [for investors], and invest in
Optimal U.S.** and mailed Plaintiffs their account stateméfrtdn fact, without
Santander U.S. as a named defendant in this actioanipeemaining (and not so
firm) ground? for this Court’s subject matter jurisdiction is the Exchange'Act.
If the Exchange Act claims are dismissed, this Court’s jurisdiction would likely be
based entirely on the theory that, under Buge Act, this suit “aris[es] out of

transactions involving international fareign banking” and names a “corporation

120 SBT Terms & Conditions § 78.
121 SAC 1 253.

122 See id. 52 (“Plaintiff Galinanes . . . regularly received his bank

statements mailed from [Santander U.SMiami.”). Given these allegations,
Plaintiffs’ argument that “Defendangse . . . far[] removed from the [SBT]
accounts because the account[s @t} non-party [SBT] Bahamas” is
disingenuous at best. Opp. Mem. at 30.

123 See infraPart V.B.

124 The Class Action Fairness Act is alo alleged basis for jurisdiction,

but given that | am dismissing the Santander Plaintiffs from this action, the only
remaining plaintiffs are Pioneer and fA®neer Plaintiffs who, according to the
SAC, “are atypical from everyone elsetie class because there were specific
representations made to them that werderta no one else in the class.” 11/4/10
PMC Tr. at 8:5-9 (Mr. Membiela, counsel for Defendants).
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organized under the laws of the United States” — SantandéfUPRaintiffs
cannot have it both ways. Either this action arises out of transactions involving
banking (in which case the forum selection clause applies) or it does not (in which
case this Court does not have Edge Act jurisdicti&nlror all of these reasons —
and because Plaintiffs have made rguarent to “rebut[the presumption of
enforceability®®’ — | hold that this action “relatg]to” the Santander Plaintiffs’
investment accounts, and is therefgoerned by the Bahamian forum selection
clause.

3. All Defendants May Enforce the Forum Selection Clause

Of course, Plaintiffs are not sui@BT; they are suing Santander U.S.,
Banco Santander (its parent), OIS (another Banco Santander subsidiary), and Clark
(an OIS employee). A forum selection clause may bind non-parties to a contract if

“the relationship between the non-party and the signatory [is] sufficiently close so

25 12 U.S.C. §632.

126 Accord11/4/10 PMC Tr. at 19:21-20:1 (“The way [Plaintiffs have]
pled [their claims, they arise out thfeir SBT accounts] because [they] have
alleged that the Santandantities operate as a unitary entity and that these shares
were bought in [those accounts]. And also, it's part of [their] Edge Act
jurisdiction, [they’re] specifically alleginthat [their claimsfome[] out of the
transaction of their banking relatidng.”) (Mr. Membiela, counsel for
Defendants).

27 Phillips, 494 F.3d at 384.
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that the non-party’s enforcement of theuim selection clause is foreseeable by
virtue of the relationship betweeretBignatory and the party sought to be
bound.™®® In discerning whether partiesediclosely related,” courts look to
whether the non-signatory “[is an] intermbleeneficiar[y] entitled to enforce” the
clause in questiotf? “As Professor Corbin has said, a third party will have an
enforceable right ‘if the promised perfoance will be of pecuniary benefit to him
and the contract is so expressed ag\e the promisor reason to know that such
benefit is contemplated by the promisee as one of the motivating causes of his
making the contract.*®* However, “while . . . third-party beneficiaries to a
contract would, by definition, satisfy [this] requirement[ ] . . ., a third-party

beneficiary status is not required®

128 Direct Mail Prod. Servs. Ltd. v. MBNA CorfNo. 99 Civ. 10550,
2000 WL 1277597, at *3 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 7, 2000) (citinge Lloyd’'s Am. Trust
Fund Lit, 954 F. Supp. 656, 670 (S.D.N.Y. 1997)).

129 Roby 996 F.2d at 1358 (alterations in original).

130 1d. at 1359 (quoting 4 Arthur L. Corbin, Corbin on Contracts § 776, at
18 (3d ed. 1967)).

131 Direct Mail, 2000 WL 1277597, at *3 (quotirigpcon v.
Underwriters at Lloyd’s, Londqri48 F.3d 1285, 1299 (11th Cir. 1998f8ccord
Roby 996 F.2d at 1358 (holding that forum selection clause contained in contracts
between Lloyd’s and its investors applied to investors’ securities fraud claims
against the syndicates that competedrgestments within Lloyd’s, in light of the
broad language of the clause and tredgcates’ pecuniary interest in uniform
resolution of the claims).
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Defendants Santander U.S., Bancat3ader, and OIS are sufficiently
“closely related” to SBT such that eméement of the forum selection clause by
those entities was foreseeable to the SalgaPlaintiffs. For example, section
21L of the SBT Terms & Conditions expressly provides that SBT could “engage
other agents or subagents (that maj3&:T’s] affiliates) to provide investment
advisory, brokerage, and other services to [SBT] for the Advisory Accotifts.”
Of course, the Santander Plaintiiftaims against Santander U.S., Banco
Santander, and OIS — all $Bffiliates — are based on those Defendants’ provision,
albeit indirectly, of such “investmeatvisory . . . services to SBT* Thus,
section 21L indicates that “the sigoges [to the SBT account agreements
incorporating the SBT Terms & Conditionstenmded the contract to benefit related
[Santander] companies” and “gave [Bantander Plaintiffs] reason to know that

one of the reasons motivating [SBT] to eritee contract was a desire to confer a

132 SeeSBT Terms & Conditions, Attachment to 4/20/11 Email from
Paulo R. Lima in Support of Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss (“4/20/11 Lima
Email”), § 21L. Section 21L, whileeferenced in Defendants’ Reply
Memorandum, was inadvertently excluded from the attachments to the Lima
Declarations.

133 |d. Similarly, the SBT Waiver distributed to the Santander Plaintiffs
in 2008 “explained that the investment in Optimal U.S. was not guaranteed by
[SBT] [or] any of its affiliates SAC 265 (citing SBT Waiver) (emphasis
added).

134 SBT Terms & Conditions, Attachment to 4/20/11 Lima Email, § 21L.
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pecuniary benefit on relatgSantander] companie$®”

Furthermore, the Santander IAl#fs received their SBT bank
statementfrom Santander U.3%° the entity allegedly responsible for opening
bank accounts at Santander affiliatesti® express purpose of investing in
Optimal U.S™*" Moreover, the SAC characterizés® Defendants as “[o]perat[ing]
[a]s [a] [u]nitary[o]rganization.**® For example, “Optimal U.S. was marketed and
sold indistinctly by Banco Santandessbsidiaries, including OIS and Santander
U.S."™° A necessary component of thenBmder Plaintiffs’ fraud allegations
against Banco Santander is that thosenpiffs invested in Optimal U.S. (through
SBT accounts) in “reliance upon the goodnesof [Banco] Santander since OIS

was presented to the world as [Banco] Santander’s hedge fund*ar@ohsidered

135 Direct Mail, 2000 WL 1277597, at *4AccordRoby 996 F.2d at
1358-59. Indeed, as alleged, “Santander. dh@rged Plaintiffs a sales charge at
the time of the investment in the funiti&it was a percentage of the amount
invested.” SAC { 262.

136 SeeSAC Y 247.
187 Seeidf 253.

138 |d. at 66 (heading)Accord id.] 245 (“Banco Santander, OIS, and
Santander U.S. formed a tight weave @figections in which each entity played an
essential role with respect to Optimal U.S.”).

139 1d. 1 244.
1“0 d. 1 257.



in conjunction with section 21L of tHeBT Terms & Conditions, “it was entirely
foreseeable that [] related [Santandaminpanies might [provide investment
advisory services to SBT clientsjdthereby become bound up in any disputes
premised upon allegations of [impragty related to the SBT accountst”
Therefore, Santander U.S., Banco Santgrated OIS may properly assert the SBT
forum selection clause in their defenges for Clark, whose “liability arises out of
the same misconduct charged against [OF&fh entity sufficiently closely related
to SBT to enforce the forum selectiomwas$e — he, too, may enforce the forum
selection clause as an employee of &tS-or all of these reasons, Counts I-XII
are dismissed to the extent they are brought by the Santander Plaintiffs, who must
litigate these claims in The Bahamas.

V. Exchange Act Claims*

A. Applicable Law

141 Direct Mail, 2000 WL 1277597at *4.

142 See, e.gRoby 996 F.2d at 1360 (“Courts in this and other circuits
consistently have held that employeeslisclosed agents of an entity that is a
party to an [| agreement [containing aum selection clause] are protected by that
agreement. . . . If it were otherwise, it would be too easy to circumvent [forum
selection clauses] by naming individuas defendants instead of [entities].”).

143 Given my dismissal of the Santander Plaintiffs from this action,

references hereinafter to “Plaintiffs”eato the “Pioneer Plaintiffs” only, with
“Pioneer” designated separately.
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“To prevail in a Rule 10b-5 actn based on subsection [10](b), a
plaintiff must prove that ‘in connection withe purchase or sale of securities, the
defendant, acting with scienter, made ladanaterial representation or omitted to
disclose material information and th@a&intiff's reliance on defendant’s action
caused [plaintiff's] injury.”*** Secondary actors cannot incur primary liability
under the [Exchange] Act for a statement not attributed to that actor at the time of
its dissemination™® Section 10(b) applies to “only . . . [1] the purchase or sale of
a security listed on an American stockcleange, and [2] the purchase or sale of
any other security in the United Staté¥.”

B. Plaintiffs Adequately Allegethat the Exchange Act Applies to
Plaintiffs’ “Purchases” of Optimal U.S. Shares

Defendants argue that Plaintiffsdnnot state federal securities law

claims because the Exchange Act doesappty extraterritorially to the foreign-

144 Vacold LLC v. Cerami545 F.3d 114, 121 (2d Cir. 2008) (quoting
Press v. Chemical Inv. Servs. Corp66 F.3d 529, 534 (2d Cir. 1999)).

145 Wright v. Ernst & Young LLP152 F.3d 169, 175 (2d Cir. 1998). A
secondary actor is “any part[y] who [is] not employed by the issuing firm whose
securities are the subject of allegations of frauddcific Inv. Mgmt. Co. v. Mayer
Brown LLP, 603 F.3d 144, 148 n.1 (2d Cir. 2010) (hereinafldMCQO").

146 Morrison v. National Austla. Bank LtdL30 S. Ct. 2869, 2884 (2010).
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cubed transactions underlying their clainfs."They direct the Court tim re
Banco-Santander Securities-Optimal Litigatidhwhere a federal district court in
Florida dismissed plaintiffs’ federagesurities claims becae they “neither
purchased shares on an American stocharge, nor did they purchase shares in
the United States. They made off-shore purchases in off-shore Bahamian
investment funds closed to United States investdts.”

Although the shares purchased by Riéfis are identical to those at
Issue inBanco-Santander Securities-Optimal Litigatidine pleadings are slightly
different for, here, Plaintiffs have insedt a crucial sentence into the SAC: “[t]he
purchases and sales of the shares of [Optimal U.S.] by Plaintiffs and the Class took

place in the United State$® But Defendants argue ththiis allegation regarding

147 Def. Mem. at 15 (citindviorrison, 130 S. Ct. at 2884). “Foreign-
cubed” transactions are those in which “(1) foreign plaintiffs [are] suing (2) a
foreign issuer in an American court faolations of American securities laws
based on securities transactions in (3) foreign countriderrison, 130 S.Ct. at
2894 n.11 (Stevens, J., concurring) (quotation marks omitted).

8 Nos. 09-MD-02073-CIV, 09-CV-20215-CIV, 2010 WL 3036990
(S.D. Fla. July 30, 2010).

149 Seeidat *5.

130 SAC 1 352.SeeOpp. Mem. at 3-4 (“Plaintiffs inBanco-Santander
Securities-Optimal Litigatiopwere not aware that thmurchases of [Optimal U.S.]
shares took place in the United States, @ddot plead that in the complaint nor
even argue it.”) (original emphasis removed).

Defendants call this allegation “cdasory.” Def. Mem. at 16.
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the U.S. locus of purchases and salébesied by the EMs attached to the SAC,

and, thus, may be ignore®” In particular, they point to the January 2008 EM,
which directs prospective Fund purchasers to mail and fax their completed
subscription forms to the Fund’s administrator, HSBC Securities Services (Ireland)
Limited (“HSSI”), in Ireland.*** Moreover, based on the EM’s warning that
“[d]irectors reserve the right to defacceptance of such subscription until monies
are cleared;® Defendants argue that “the sale of the Fund shares became final
only upon the Administrator's acceptance of the Subscription FbofnTherefore,

“they are not domestic transactions and cannot provide a basis for claims under

United States securities law”

Indeed, now that the “focus of the &hange Act” is no longer “upon the place
where . . . deception originated, but ugamchases and saled securitiesn the

United States Morrison, 130 S.Ct. at 2884 (emphasis added), whether a technical
“purchase” or “sale” of those securitiesshtaken place in this country appears to

be the crucial question, and one thas both factual and legal elements.

151 Def. Mem. at 17 (citindgbal, 129 S.Ct. at 1951).

152 SeelJanuary 2008 EM, Ex. 15 to SAC, at 37-38 (listing HSSI's fax
number and address in Dublin and sigtithis Subscription Form should be sent
to the following address and/or fascimilember, and if sent by fascimile, the
original must follow by post”) (emphasis in original).

153 Id. at 36.
154 Def. Mem. at 17.
155 Id



The defendants in&nwar ' **®— another Madoff feeder-fund case
litigated in this district — mada similar argument: because a number of
administrative tasks associated with sulisng to shares in the “Offshore Funds”
occurred in other countries — including Plaintiffs’ sending their subscription
agreements to an administratolAmsterdam and to the Offshore Funds’
investment manager in Bermuda — the transactions in question did not occur in the
United States>” But Plaintiffs countered that no transaction occurred until
Plaintiffs’ subscription agreements wexeceptedy the Funds, and that this
approval occurred iNew Yorkwhere Fairfield Greenwich Group — which
founded and operated the Funds — had an office, and where much of its executive
staff was concentratéef Judge Marrero deferred ruling on the question because it
presented “a novel and more complex applicatioMaifrison’s transactional test”
given that the case “allegedly [did] natolve securities purchases or sales
executed on a foreign exchand&.”Indeed, in adopting its “clear test” for the

application of the Exchange Act, tMorrison court seemed most concerned with

1% Anwar v. Fairfield Greenwich Ltd728 F. Supp. 2d 372, 401 n.8
(S.D.N.Y. 2010) (Anwar ).

157 See id405.
158 Seeid.

159 Id



eliminating “interference witfioreign securities regulatiotf® — a concern that is
somewhat lessened in the context of transactions in securities not traded on foreign
exchanges. Accordingly, Judge Marréoand “that a more developed factual
record [was] necessary to inform a progetermination as to whether Plaintiffs’
purchases of the Offshore Funds’ sfsmoccurred in the United Staté%.”

In this case, Plaintiffs do not contest that the subscription forms were
sent to the Fund administratorlneland or that “acceptance” occurred in
Ireland?®? Instead, they contend the shanese “purchased” where they were

issued'® and that the Optimal U.Shares were issued New York As evidence,

180 Morrison, 130 S. Ct. at 2886Accord id.at 2884 (“We know of no
one who thought that the Act was intended to ‘regulat[e]’ foreign securities
exchanges — or indeed who even belietheat under established principles of
international law Congress had the power to do so.”).

161 Anwar |, 728 F. Supp. 2d at 405.

182 They do point out, however, that Optimal U.S. investors who made

their subscription payments in U.S. dollars by telegraphic transemire
transfer) sent their payments to HSBC Bank USA I8eeJanuary 2008 EM, EXx.
15 to SAC, at 37. “A search of the Swift and ABA Codes listed in the Optimal
U.S. Subscription Form for HSBC Bank USA Ingeg id. indicates that HSBC
Bank USA Inc. is located at 452 FifAvenue, New York, New York 10018.”
4/15/11 PI. Letter at 2. Neverthelegss Plaintiffs’ position that “[w]here
payment is made, . . . where the monesnes from and where it's transferred to
does not necessarily indicate where [the shares are] ultimately [purchased].”
4/13/11 Teleconf. Tr. at 19:2-4 (Mr. Miller, counsel for Plaintiffs).

163 4/13/11 Teleconf. Tr. at 19:16-19 (“this case, it's where the shares
were issued is where the purchase actualgpnsummated. Until then the money
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they submit two “Contract Notes” issued by Santander U.S. to “Inversiones Mar
Octava,” an Optimal U.S. shareholder and a plaintifhire Banco Santander
Securities-Optimal Litigatio®®* The contract notes read, “WE BOUGHT [SOLD]
FOR YOUR ACCOUNT IN : NYS.*> Drawing all reasonable inferences in
Plaintiffs’ favor, the Contract Notes support Plaintiffs’ allegation that the
purchases of Optimal U.S. “took place in the United StafésDefendants’
argument, while promising, is better-suited for a motion for summary judgment in
the context of a more fully-developed faalk record that unequivocally establishes

where all of Plaintiffs’ shares were “issued,” where they wired their subscription

is in the air. And whether it's in the air over Ireland or any other place doesn’t
really amount to much.”) (Mr. Miller, counsel for Plaintiffs).

184 No. 09-20215-CIV (S.D. Fla.)See4/15/11 PI. Letter at 1; Contract
Notes, Ex. A to 4/15/11 Letter; Certifiwan of Inversiones Mar Octava, Ex. B to
4/15/11 Letter. This Court may consider the Contract Notes on this motion to
dismiss because Plaintiffs redi®@n them in framing the SACSee supranote 70;
4/13/11 Teleconf. Tr. at 20:15-19 (“[Tl@ntract notes were] relied upon in
Plaintiff[s’] complaint in — this underlying statement in paragraph 352 that the
purchases took place in the United States.”) (Mr. Ellman, counsel for Plaintiffs).

185 Contract Notes.

186 SAC 1 352. Defendants argue that the Contract Notes directly
contradict the SAC'’s allegations tHalaintiffs’ investments “were made from
[their] bank accounts at Banc Julius Baer in Geneva Switzerland,” SAC | 11.
However, the statement, “WE BOUGHT FOR YOUR ACCOUNT IN : NYS" is
ambiguous; it does not necessarily mean that the account-holder’'s account was
located in New York. Drawing all reasdata inferences in Plaintiffs’ favor, it
means the shares were ghased or issued there.
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payments, what the statement “VBEUGHT FOR YOUR ACCOUNT IN : NYS”
means, and where their subscription age@swere “accepted.” At this stage,
Plaintiffs’ allegation that the purchases “took place in the United Stéfes,”
factually supported by the Contract Notes, suffices to establish the applicability of
the Exchange Act to the transactions in question.
C. Plaintiffs’ Section 10(b) Claims Against OIS and Clark, and

Section 20(a) Claim Against Banco Santander, Survive

Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss

Plaintiffs allege that OIS and Clark violated section 10(b) of the
Exchange Act, and that Banco Santanddiable under section 20(a) as a “control
person” of OIS. Defendants move temiss on the grounds that the Exchange Act

does not apply to the transactions of which Plaintiffs complain; that Plaintiffs have

failed to allege (1) actionable misstatements or omissté) scienter, and (3)

167 SAC 1 352.

188 Plaintiffs sue Clark only for his allegedly “false and misleading
statements to Pioneer.” SAC { 368ccord id.f 11 (“Each of the Pioneer
Plaintiffs invested in Optimal U.S. pursuda an investment advisory agreement
with Pioneer, and based on the adpoevided by Pioneer, which was based on
Defendants’ misrepresentations.”); Opp.riviat 4 (“Plaintiffs did not sue Clark
for the statements in the EMs, only the statements he made directly to
Pioneer.”). In moving to dismiss thedferal securities claims against them, OIS
and Clark discussnly the alleged misstatements and omissions contained in the
EMswithout challenging the adequacytbé SAC's allegations that the Pioneer
Plaintiffs (1) relied on Clark’s statementsPioneeror (2) attributed the “advice
provided by Pioneer” to Clark. SAC { 1$%ee PIMCQ603 F.3d at 155
(“Secondary actors can be liable in a private action under Rule 10b-5 for only those
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reliance; and that Plaintiffs’ allegatiofel to satisfy the elements of “control
person” liability. For reasons that will lexplained at a conference scheduled for
Tuesday, May 10, 2011 at 3:30 p.m., Plaintiffs’ section 10(b) claims against OIS
and Clark, and their section 20(a) oleagainst Banco Santander as a “control
person” of OIS, survive Defendants’ motion to dismiss.
VI. Common Law Claims
A.  Standing

Defendants argue that Plaintiffs lastanding to assert direct claims
for breach of fiduciary duty, aiding and abetting breach of fiduciary duty, gross
negligence, breach of contract, angust enrichment because any wrongs
sustained were sustainedtbye Fundsthe only entities that may bring suit
directly!®® In order to assess this argument, | must first determine what law
applies to the question of shareholder standing.

1. Choice of Law

a. New York Choice-of-Law Rules

In diversity actions, federal courts follow the choice-of-law rules of

statements that aexplicitly attributedto them.”) (emphasis added).

169 SeeDef. Mem. at 1-3.



the forum state to determine the controlling substantive Tawinder New York
choice-of-law rules, courts first determaiwhether there is a substantive conflict
between the laws of the relevant choit@s'in the absence of substantive
difference . . . a New York court will dispse with choice of law analysis; and if
New York law is among the relevant cbes, New York courts are free to apply
it.” 172
I Internal Affairs Doctrine

New York follows the internahffairs doctrine, which generally
requires that “questions relating to the it affairs of corporations are decided
in accordance with the law tie place of incorporationt” This doctrine

“recognizes that only one State should have the authority to regulate a

170 SeeErie R.R. Co. v. Tompkind04 U.S. 64 (1938)GlobalNet
Financial.com, Inc. v. Frank Crystal & Co449 F.3d 377, 382 (2d Cir. 2006).

11 See GlobalNet Financial.cqm49 F.3d at 382 (“The New York Court
of Appeals has held that ‘the first stepany case presenting a potential choice of
law issue is to determine whether theransactual conflict between the laws of the
jurisdictions involved.™) (quotingn re Allstate Ins. Co. (Stolarz31 N.Y.2d 219,
223 (1993)).

172 International Bus. Mach. Cor. Liberty Mut. Ins. C9363 F.3d 137,
143 (2d Cir. 2004).

173 Scottish Air Int'l, Inc. v. British Caledonian Group, PL&1 F.3d
1224, 1234 (2d Cir. 1996) (citations omittedjccord City of Sterling Heights
Police and Fire Ret. Sys. v. Abbey NBt.C, 423 F. Supp. 2d 348, 363 (S.D.N.Y.
2006).
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corporation’s internal affairs — mattgveculiar to the relationships among or
between the corporation and its current officers, directors, and shareholders —
because otherwise a corporation coloé faced with conflicting demand<®
The internal affairs doctrine “typically reqas a court to consider the law of the
place of incorporation to decide a shareholder standing i$Sue.”
ii.  Tort Actions: Interest Analysis

To resolve conflicts in tort cases, New York applies an “interest

analysis” to identify the jurisdiction thatas the greatest interest in the litigation

based on the occurrences within each jurisdiction, or contacts of the parties with

174 Edgar v. MITE Corp 457 U.S. 624, 645 (1982pccordRestatement
(Second) of Conflict of Laws § 302 cmt. e (“Uniform treatment of directors,
officers and shareholders is an importabjective which can only be attained by
having the rights and liabilities of thoserpens with respect to the corporation
governed by a single law.”).

1> Anwar |, 728 F. Supp. 2d at 401 n.8 (citiAoushanab v. JanaiXo.
06 Civ. 13472, 2007 WL 2789511, at *6 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 26, 200Xgkord
Newman v. Family Mgmt. CorgNo. 08 Civ. 11215, 2010 WL 4118083, at *11
(S.D.N.Y. Oct. 20, 2010) (“The question of standing to bring a derivative suit is
governed by the law of the state of organizatiorStephenson v. Citco Group
Ltd., 700 F. Supp. 2d 599, 608 (S.D.N.Y. 2010) (“When deciding issues of
shareholder standing, that is, whether claims should be brought directly or
derivatively, courts must look to the law of the fund’s state of incorporation.”)
(quotation marks omittedebussy LLC v. Deutsche Bank A®. 05 Civ. 5550,
2006 WL 800956, at *3 (S.D.N.Y. Mar. 29, 2006) (same).
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each jurisdiction, that “relate to the mase of the particular law in conflict!*®
When the law is one which regulates cortdtibe law of the jurisdiction where
the tort occurred will generally applebause that jurisdiction has the greatest
interest in regulating behavior within its bordet.”A tort occurs in “the place
where the injury was inflicted,” whicis generally where the plaintiffs are
located’"®
b.  This Court May Apply New York Law to the
Question of Shareholder Standing Because There Is
No Conflict Between New York and Bahamian Law
Plaintiffs urge this Court to apply New York law to the question of

shareholder standing “because nonthefDefendants include the Fund or its

directors and, instead, consist of third-party service provitiéesid because New

176 GlobalNet Financial.con¥49 F.3d at 384 (quotirgchultz v. Boy
Scouts of Am., Inc65 N.Y.2d 189, 197 (1985))Accord Finance One Pub. Co. v.
Lehman Bros. Special Fin., In@14 F.3d 325, 337 (2d Cir. 2005) (citation
omitted) (the interest analysis is a %lble approach intended to give controlling
effect to the law of the jurisdiction whigcbecause of its relationship or contact
with the occurrence or the parties, has @ineatest concern with the specific issue
raised in the litigation”).

177 GlobalNet Financial.con449 F.3d at 384.

178 Cromer Fin. Ltd. v. Bergel37 F. Supp. 2d 452, 492 (S.D.N.Y.
2001) (citation and quotation marks omitteéccord Sack v. Loyt 78 F.2d 360,
365-66 (2d Cir. 1973) (interpreting New York law).

179 Opp. Mem. at 18 (citingyco Int'l, Ltd. v. KozlowskiNo. 02 Civ.
7317, 2010 WL 4903201, at *6-7 (S.D.N.Y. Dec. 10, 20Adwar |, 728 F. Supp.
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York “has the most significanterestin the litigation.*®® Although New York’s
interest in the litigation would be my primary focus were | determining whether to
apply New York or Bahamiatort law to Plaintiffs’ substantiveclaims, that is not

my inquiry. Rather, my inquiry is whether Plaintiffs — the parties pleading those
torts — havestandingto assert thert* Andthat question is governed by the

internal affairs doctrin&? Therefore, Plaintiffs’ argument for the application of
New York law — at least on these grounds — is inapposite.

However, Defendants concede that “United States law is in accord

2d at 401 n.8Pension Comm. of Univ. of Montreal Pension Plan v. Banc of Am.
Sec., LLC446 F. Supp. 2d 163, 194 (S.D.N.Y. 200&¢kert v. Asumar218
N.Y.S.2d 814, 817-18 (Sup. Ct. N.Y. Co. 1961)).

80 Id. at 17 (emphasis added).

181 Defendants’ Reply to Plaintiffs’ Opposition to Motion to Dismiss

(“Def. Reply”) at 1 (quotingschultz 65 N.Y.2d at 197). In this vein, aside from
Anwar |, none of the cases cited by Plaintiffs in support of their argument
addressed the question of whether the law of the state of incorporation should
apply to determine whether plaintiffs hathndingto bring certain claims; instead,
they addressed whether foreign law should gotlegrclaims themselveSee

Tycq 2010 WL 4903201, at *6 (rejecting defentla argument that “Bermuda law
should apply to [plaintiffs'klaims of constructive fraud and forfeittyéemphasis
added);Ackert 218 N.Y.S.2d at 817 (“a stockholder’s derivataationsuch as

this does not involve the internal affairs of the corporation in whose behalf it is
brought”) (emphasis addedgension Comm446 F. Supp. 2d at 194 (rejecting
defendants’ argument that “[British Virgin Islands] law should apph¢oclaims
against them under the internéfiaars doctrine”) (emphasis added).

182 SeeDef. Reply at 1 (citinddBagdon v. Bridgestone/Firestone, In@16
F.2d 379, 382 (7th Cir. 1990)).
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with Bahamian law,**® citing New York law*** Indeed, Defendants’ application
of Bahamian and New York law demonstrates that there are no genuine differences
between the tw&® Therefore, because “New York law is among the relevant
choices,” this Court is “free to” — and does — apphit.

2. New York Law of Shareholder Standing

“Under New York law, a shareholder may bring an individual suit if
the defendant has violated an independeiy to the shareholder, whether or not

the corporation may also bring an actio#f,although “damages may be limited so

183 Def. Mem. at 4.

184 See idat 4-5 (citingDruck Corp. v. Macro Fund Ltd290 Fed. App’x
441, 443 (2d Cir. 2008)).

18 See idat 3-4 (contending that, under Bahamian law, (1) only the Fund

“may bring suit for alleged breachesdifties owed” and (2) “a shareholder cannot
recover for harms that ‘reflect’ lossedfeved” by the Fund (the “Reflective Loss
Principle” under Bahamian law)).

186 International Bus. Machs363 F.3d at 143-44Accord Anwar ) 728
F. Supp. 2d at 401 n.8 (applying New Ydakv in part because “even if Delaware
law, the place of the Domestic Fundstamporation, were applied to claims
relating to the Domestic Funds, the result would be the same”).

187 Ceribelli v. Elghanayan990 F.2d 62, 63-64 (2d Cir. 1993) (citations
omitted). Accord Fraternity Fund Ltd. v. Beacon Hill Asset Mgmt. |.BZ6 F.
Supp. 2d 385, 408-09 (S.D.N.Y. 2005) (direct action allowed under New York law
because, while “some mismanagemertt self-dealing . . . may have been
involved,” the “principal wrong . . . ajgars to have been a valuation fraud that
injured plaintiffs, not the Funds”).
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as to avoid a double recovery/® “[U]nder New York law an allegation of

misrepresentation of present fact thahes inducement for the contract may state a
[direct] claim for fraud.*®® However, “allegations of mismanagement or diversion
of assets by officers or directors to their own enrichment, without more, plead a
wrong to the corporation only, for which a shareholder may sue derivatively but

not individually.”°

18 Ceribelli, 990 F.2d at 63-64But see Druck290 Fed. App’x at 443
(finding claim “derivative, not direct,drause [plaintiff] cannot prevail without
showing injury to [the fund] itself.”).

189 Druck, 290 Fed. App’x at 444 (quotation marks omittedycord
Ceribelli, 990 F.2d at 65 n.3 (“When misrepresentations induce a buyer to
purchase stock, and the losses suffameda foreseeable consequence of the
misrepresentations, the misrepreaéinhs proximately cause the buyer’s
injuries.”); Coronado Dev. Corp. v. Millikin22 N.Y.S.2d 670, 675 (Sup. Ct. N.Y.
Co. 1940) (“[D]epreciation resulting from tldkssemination of false informatias
to corporate assets or business or management, as distinguished from a wrongful
withholding or taking or dissipation of quorate property or interference with its
business, necessarily constitutes a dirgatyrto individual stockholders and is a
wrong to them rather than to therporation . . . .”) (emphasis addedjut see San
Diego Cty. Emps. Ret. Ass’n v. Maoumi®. 07 Civ. 2618, 2010 WL 1010012, at
*20 (S.D.N.Y. Mar. 15, 2010) (“Plaintiff's claim [for breach of fiduciary duty
based on the making of misrepresentafisnderivative [under Delaware law],
because the misrepresentations tHagadly caused its losses injured not just
Plaintiff, but the Fund as a whole.”).

19 Abrams v. Donati66 N.Y.2d 95, 953 (1985) (“For a wrong against a
corporation a shareholder has no individzause of action, though he loses the
value of his investment or incurs persblbility in an effort to maintain the
solvency of the corporation.”)Accord Debussy2006 WL 800956, at *3 (“When
the duty implicated in a breach of dutaim is the normal duty to manage the
affairs of the corporation . . . [t]hat duty is owed to the corporation and not
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3. Plaintiffs Lack Standing to Assert Direct Claims for Breach
of Fiduciary Duty, Aiding and Abetting Breach of Fiduciary
Duty, Gross Negligence, Breach of Contract, and Unjust
Enrichment (Counts V-VII and 1X-X)
Defendants argue that Plaintiffs’ claims for breach of fiduciary duty
(Count VI), aiding and abetting breachfiduciary duty (Count VII), gross
negligence (Count V), third party beneficiary breach of contract (1X), and unjust
enrichment (Count X) should be dismisskécause “[tjhe gravamen of Plaintiffs’
claims is that the Defendants failed tgsrvise adequately the investment of the
Funds’ assets, resulting in the losstadde assets,” thereby breaching duties owed
only to the Fund$* They point to “a number of cases involving similarly situated
Madoff feeder funds” in which “courts have dismissed such common law claims

against investment advisors and other fund service providers for the very reason

that the plaintiffs lacked staing to pursue derivative claim§? Upon a close

separately or independently to the stockholders. Therefore, the injury flowing
from a claim of mismanagement — although . . . not by a corporate board of
directors but rather by the portfolio manager of [a] Trust’s assets — is a wrong to
the corporation.”).

%1 Def. Mem. at 4.

192 1d. at 5 (citingNewman 2010 WL 4118083, at *1Z5oldweber v.
Harmony Partners, LtdNo. 09-61902-CIV, 2010 WL 3702508, at *4 (S.D. Fla.
Sept. 16, 2010\ Vest Palm Beach Police Pension Fund v. Collins Capital Low
Volatility Performance FundNo. 09-80846-CIV, 2010 WL 2949856, at *3 (S.D.
Fla. July 26, 2010)Stephensariv00 F. Supp. 2d at 610).
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assessment of all five claini$,| conclude that each is “a classic claim of fund
mismanagement that belongs to Eaed, and is therefore derivative™
a. Plaintiffs’ Claims for Breach of Fiduciary Duty, Aiding and
Abetting Breach of Fiduciary Duty, Gross Negligence and
Unjust Enrichment Are Derivative
Plaintiffs’ breach of fiduciary duty claim is based on Defendants’
alleged “fail[ure] to conducadequate due diligence and monitoring with respect to
Optimal U.S.’s investments, by failing to follow-up on red flags that would have
caused them to discover that Madoffsyeerpetrating a Ponzi scheme, and by
pocketing hundreds of millions of dollarsfees based on fraudulent asset values
and investment returns?® Similarly, Plaintiffs’ gross negligence claim is based
on Defendants’ alleged
fail[ure] to performadequate due diligence before selecting BMIS
as Optimal U.S.’s execution agent for its split strike conversion
strategy, and before allowing BBl to serve as custodian for
Optimal U.S.; fail[ure] to properly monitor Madoff and BMIS on

an ongoing basis to any reasonalidgree; and fail[ure] to take
adequate steps to confirm BMIS’s purported account statements,

193 See Stephenspr00 F. Supp. 2d at 610 (“[T]here is no reason that
some claims arising out of a case or controversy could not be direct while other
claims arising out of that case or controversy are properly derivative.”).

19 San Diego Cty2010 WL 1010012, at *20 (citingebussy2006 WL
800956, at *3).

1% SAC 1 328.



returns, transactions and holding of Optimal U.S.’s as%ets.
Finally, Plaintiffs’ unjust enrichment clai is based on the same alleged “unlawful
acts and omissions and breaches of fiduaianyes” asserted in Plaintiffs’ breach
of fiduciary duty and gross negligence claitffs.

These claims are derivative becaliggach is based on the alleged
mismanagement of the [] Fund through the failure to conduct adequate due

diligence and to discover and act upon red flagfsThe cases to which Plaintiffs

1% d. 7 319.
97 1d. 1 346.

1%  Newman2010 WL 4118083 at *12 (dismissing plaintiffs’ direct
claims for breach of fiduciary dutgross negligence and mismanagement,
malpractice and professional negligence, unjust enrichment, and aiding and
abetting breach of fiduciary dutypAccord West PalBeach 2010 WL 2949856,
at *3 (dismissing as derivative plaintiff's claims for breach of fiduciary duty, gross
negligence, and unjust enrichment becd{lslg alleging that [the investment
manager] failed to conduct the necessary due diligence to discover the Madoff
Ponzi scheme, Plaintiff has pled ‘a paradigmatic derivative claim.™) (quoting
Stephensary00 F. Supp. 2d at 61®tephensqry00 F. Supp. 2d at 610
(dismissing plaintiff's breach of fiduciary duty claim as “a paradigmatic derivative
claim™ after concluding that “[t]he graamen of plaintiff's breach of fiduciary
duty claims [was] a failure to admingstthe fund such that the Madoff Ponzi
scheme would be discovered™) (quotiAtbert v. Alex. Brown Mgmt. Serv., Inc.
Nos. Civ.A. 762-N, Civ.A. 763-N, 2005 WL 2130607, at *13 (Del. Ch. Aug. 26,
2005));San Diego Cty.2010 WL 1010012, at *20 (finding plaintiff's “first
allegation — that Defendants broke ficarg duties to [plaintiff] by failing to
manage properly the Fund —is, like Plaintiff's gross negligence claims, a classic
claim of fund mismanagement that belongs to the Fund, and is therefore
derivative.”) (citingDebussy2006 WL 800956, at *3).
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direct this Court are distinguishaldfé.In Anwar |, Judge Marerro sustained direct
claims for gross negligence, breacHidticiary duty, and unjust enrichment
against investment managé¥sbut only after he rejected defendants’ “blanket
characterization” of plaintiffs’ common law claims as “mismanagement of the
Funds;*instead, he found that “[t]he principal wrong asserted by the Plaintiffs
here is essentially nondisclosure of or failure to learn facts which should have been
disclosed based on duties that were independently owed to Plaifffifislithough
Judge Marrero’s characterization would apply to Plaintiffs’ claimsiégligent
misrepresentatiomandfraud in this case — which | will permit to proceed — their
breach of fiduciary duty, gross negligenaad unjust enrichment claims simply do
not allege “inducement” such that “recovery . . . would only flow to those
individuals . . . who were so induced”

Similarly, the claims sustained as direcEnaternity Fund Limited v.

19 SeeOpp. Mem. at 19-20 (citingnwar |, 728 F. Supp. 2d at 415;
Pension Comm446 F. Supp. 2d at 199-208aternity Fund 376 F. Supp. 2d at
409). See alsad. at 26 (citingPeople ex rel. Cuomo v. MerkiNo. 450879/09,
2010 WL 936208, at *10-11 (Sup. Ct. N.Y. Co. Feb. 8, 2010)).

20 See Anwar,|728 F. Supp. 2d at 414-16, 421.
201 |d. at 400.

202 |d. at 401 n.9.

203 Stephensar700 F. Supp. 2d at 612.
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Beacon Hill Asset Management Lla@dPeople ex rel. Cuomo v. MerKiwere
misrepresentation claimspt mismanagement claim€* And in sustaining a
breach of fiduciary duty claim against a fund administrator brought by investors,
Pension Committee of University of Miegdl Pension Plan v. Banc of America
Securities, LLGJid not address the question of shareholder stadirfepr all of
these reasons, | dismiss as derivative Bféshclaims for unjust enrichment, gross
negligence, and breach of fiduciary yutnd the aiding and abetting claim upon
which the breach of fiduciary duty claim is based.

b.  The Third Party Beneficiary Breach of Contract
Claim Is Derivative

Plaintiffs assert a breach of caatt claim against OIS on the theory
that they are third-party beneficiari@sthe Investment Management Agreement

(“IMA”) 2 entered into between OIS and Optimal &/SBut even if Plaintiffs

204 West Palm Beagl2010 WL 2949856, at *3 (distinguishifrgaternity
Fund 376 F. Supp. 2d at 409%ee Fraternity Fund376 F. Supp. 2d at 409;
Merkin, 2010 WL 936208, at *11 (“Here, the wrongs alleged include [the
investment manager’s] misrepresentatiand omissions . . . . [T]he investors were
injured when they invested or retaththeir investments in reliance upon the
misstatements.”).

205 See Pension Comyd46 F. Supp. 2d at 196-9Tf. id. at 205
(denying the fund administrator’'s motion to dismiss plaintiffs’ commonftaud
claims for lack of standing).

206 SeelMA, Ex. A to Lima Decl. In exchange for “an investment
management fee . . . out of the assetsagh class of Shares,” OIS agreed under
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were third-party beneficiaries to the IMA, they

could not demonstrate an injury (a breach of that contract)
independent of injury to [Optim&S] (the promisee and primary
beneficiary of the contract). Plaintiff[s] do[] not allege an
independent injury or breachadntractual obligations specific to
[them], but rather a general breaxftihe [IMA] that is applicable

to the [Fund] at large, and ascbuthey] could not demonstrate
[their] own injury without demonstrating that the [Fund] was
injured?®®

Accordingly, Plaintiffs’ third party berieiary breach of comact claim against

OIS is also derivative in nature, and is dismisded.

the IMA to “use its best effort and judgemesic] and due care in exercising the
authority granted to it [under the IMAENd was liable to Optimal U.S. for any

loss “aris[ing] from willful default ogross negligence in performance of [OIS’s]
obligations or duties or where the Investment Manager did not act honestly, with
good faith or with a view to the best interests of the Fuhdl.’at 4.

207 SeeOpp. Mem. at 26.

208 Stephensarv00 F. Supp. 2d at 611 (citiRgimavera
Familienstiftung v. AskinNo. 95 Civ. 8905, 1996 WL 494904, at *9 (S.D.N.Y.
Aug. 30, 1996) (finding third party breaohcontract claim derivative))Accord
Orban v. Field Civ. A. No. 12820, 1993 WL 547187, at *9 (Del. Ch. Dec. 30,
1993) (“The idea of shareholders havingedity enforceable rights as third party
beneficiaries to corporate contracts is, | think, one that should be resisted. One of
the consequences of limited liability thabsbholders enjoy is that the law treats
corporations as legal persons not simply agents for shareholders.”).

209 Because | dismiss Plaintiffs’ third-party beneficiary breach of contract

claim, their negligent misrepresentaticlaim cannot be “duplicative” of the

breach of contract claim, as OIS argu€geDef. Mem. at 8. And because this is
the only ground on which any of the four Defendants moves to dismiss Plaintiffs’
negligent misrepresentation claithat claim survives this motion.
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| note that although th&nwar | court sustained Plaintiffs’ third-party
beneficiary breach of contract claim under similar circumstances, it did so without
deciding whether that claim was direct or derivatileMoreover, in finding that
Plaintiffs were the intended benefiages of the Fund’s contract with the
investment manager in that case, Amsvar | court reasoned that

[iJt comports with common sense that an entity hired to manage

the investments of a pool of capital, particularly considering the

massive Funds at issue here, iemled to give a benefit to the

investors. The very purpesof pooling capital may be to

maximize investment opportunitiésyerage and profits by virtue

of sheer volume, while avoidirthe transaction costs associated

with each investor having a sep@raontract with an investment

manager and still benefittinglirectly from the manager’s

expertise!
Of course, this will be the case with respto any investment pool. Moreover, this
logic also explains why the right to sue for breach of the contract belongs to the

Fund not to its shareholdet&

210 See Anwar,1728 F. Supp. 2d at 4q@eferring ruling on the question
of standing because Plaintiffs’ “asymimeal injury” argument was “ripe for
further factual development”).

2 |d. at 419.

212 Similarly, while it is true (as Plaintiffs point out) that individual
shareholders’ out-of-pocket losses varied depending upon when they partially or
fully redeemed their shares (due to thedinature of the Fund’s share ownership),
seeOpp. Mem. at 21, that will be true in any case alleging corporate malfeasance
over a long period of time. But mereriaion in losses does not give rise to
claims by individual shareholders alleging corporate malfeasé&@weDef. Reply
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C. Leave to Replead

In light of my (1) application of New York law and (2) holding that
Plaintiffs lack standing to bring thesediclaims, Plaintiffs are granted leave to
replead the claims as derivative, andlfege facts showing why, if applicable,
demand would be futile or otherwise excuéédDefendants may then renew their
motion to dismiss these claims, at which point | will consider (1) Defendants’
arguments that Plaintiffs have nevertheledgd to state claims and (2) Plaintiffs’
argument that the “Wagoner Rule” nevetess imbues Plaintiffs with standftfy
— an issue this Court believes wouldhbft from additional briefing exploring
when the “Wagoner Rule” should apply as opposed to shareholder standing

doctrines such as demand futility.

at 3. Nor does the Fund’s two-tier equity structure have any bearing on Plaintiffs
standing, as Plaintiffs mistakenly argugeeOpp. Mem. at 20 (arguing that
because Plaintiffs’ “Participating shatdgcame worthless while OIS’s “Ordinary
shares” were not affected, the diminutiarvalue of Plaintiffs’ shares “did not
accrue to the corporation itself”).

213 See Marx v. Aker$8 N.Y.2d 189, 198-201 (19963acher v. Beacon
Assocs. Mgmt. CorpNo. 005424/09, 2010 WL 1881951, at *12 (N.Y. Sup. Ct.
Nassau Co. Apr. 26, 2010).

24 SeeOpp. Mem. at 21 (citinghearson Lehman Hutton, Inc. v.
Wagoner 944 F.2d 114, 120 (2d Cir. 1991) (“A claim against a third party for
defrauding a corporation with the coogigon of management accrues to the
creditors not to the guilty corporation. . We therefore hold that the
[bankruptcy] trustee lacks standing to bring the [] claamich belongs solely to
the creditors’) (emphasis added)).
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B. Common Law Fraud-Based Claims

1.  Applicable Law**®

“Under New York law, to state a claim for fraud a plaintiff must
demonstrate: (1) a misrepresentation or omission of material fact; (2) which the
defendant knew to be false; (3) which the defendant made with the intention of
inducing reliance; (4) upon which the piaif reasonably relied; and (5) which
caused injury to the plaintifé*® Because the elements of common-law fraud in
New York are “substantially identictd those governing 8§ 10(b), the identical
analysis applies?*’
To state a claim for aiding and abetting fraud under New York law, a

plaintiff must plead facts showing (1) the existence of a fraud; (2) defendant’s

knowledge of the fraud; and (3) that thefendant provided substantial assistance

215 Defendants “do not concede that New York law governs these claims,

which do not involve any New York indiduals or entities.” Def. Mem. at 7.
However, they neither state which juiisttbn’s laws they believe should apply nor
argue that that jurisdiction’s laws areaanflict with New York tort law. Thus,

this Court is “free to apply” New Y& law because it is “among the relevant
choices.” International Bus. Mach.363 F.3d at 143.

216 Wynn 273 F.3d at 156 (citingama 88 N.Y.2d at 421).

217 AIG Global Sec. Lending Corp. v. Banc of Am. Sec., INaC 01 Civ.
11448, 2005 WL 2385854, at *16 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 26, 2005) (citation and
guotation marks omitted).
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to advance the fraud’'s commissigh.“The knowledge requirement of an aiding
and abetting fraud claim is satisfied &l{eging actual knowledge of the underlying
fraud.””® “Substantial assistance may only be found where the alleged aider and
abettor affirmatively assisthelps conceal or fails to act when required to do so,
thereby enabling the breach to occtif."Moreover, the plaintiff must allege that

the aiding and abetting defendant proately caused the harm on which the
primary liability is predicated® At least with respect to an aiding and abetting
fraud claim, the “substantial assistance” &ralisation” elements are interrelated —
“[w]lhether the assistance is substantial or not is measured . . . by whether the
action of the aider and abettor proximately caused the harm on which the primary
liability is predicated.**?

2. Plaintiffs’ Primary Fraud Claims (Counts I-II)

218 See Wight v. Bankamerica Car@l19 F.3d 79, 91 (2d Cir. 2000).

219 JP Morgan Chase Bank v. Winnjek06 F. Supp. 2d 247, 252
(S.D.N.Y. 2005) (citation omitted).

220 In re Sharp Int'l Corp,. 403 F.3d 43, 50 (2d Cir. 2005)ccord
Pension Comm446 F. Supp. 2d at 210.

221 SeeMcDaniel v. Bear, Stearns & Gdl96 F. Supp. 2d 343, 359
(S.D.N.Y. 2002) (quotation and citation omitted) (with respect to aiding and
abetting fraud claim, “[p]Jroximate causeigs where defendant’s actions were a
substantial factor in the sequence afp@nsible causation, and plaintiff's injury
was reasonably foreseeable or anat#gl as a natural consequence”).

222 Winnick 406 F. Supp. 2d at 256 (quotation and citation omitted).
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Plaintiffs assert common law fraud claims against OIS, Clark, and
Banco Santander on the basis of misgepntations made in connection with
Plaintiffs’ purchases of shares in Optimal &5In one paragraph, Defendants
move to dismiss these claims becauseiffifés have failed to allege that any
Defendant [1] knew the alleged misrepreatinhs were false [scienter] or [2]
made such alleged misrepresentatiaith the intention to induce reliance,”
directing the Court to OIS’s and Clark’s arguments for why the section 10(b)
claims against them should be dismis&éd.

For the same reasons that Plaintiffs’ section 10(b) claims against OIS
and Clark survive this motion — reasons that will be explained at the May 10th
conference — Plaintiffs’ common law fraud claims against those two defendants
may also proceed> However, there is a dearntii briefing on the adequacy of
Plaintiffs’ common law fraud allegations &sthe third defendant named in Counts
I-1l, Banco Santander — no doubt due te gage limits imposed by this Court.

Therefore, | defer ruling on the issue. Defendants are invited to revisit their

223 SeeSAC 19 289-294.
224 Def. Mem. at 13.

2% See AIG2005 WL 2385854, at *16 (the elements of common-law
fraud in New York are “substantially identical to those governing § 10(b)”)
(citation and quotation marks omitted).
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argument that Plaintiffs have failéadl state a claim for fraud against Banco
Santander, either in a renewed motion wrdss (if Plaintiffs file a third amended
complaint) or in conjunction with their proposed foraon conveniensiotion.

3. Plaintiffs’ Aiding and Abetting Fraud Claims (Counts VII
and VIII)

Plaintiffs allege that Banco Samider and Santander U.S. are liable as
aiders and abettors to OIS’s alleged fr&idDefendants argue that Plaintiffs have
not pleaded facts that, if true, wdwonstitute “substantial assistance” by
Santander U.S. or Banco Santander. WRi&ntiffs have pleaded sufficient facts
as to Banco Santander, they have not done so as to Santander U.S. The SAC
alleges that in September 2002, Bancot&ader ordered OIS to send a team to
investigate and meet with Madoff and a number of New York law fifm$he
investigation resulted in at least twiernal memoranda that were written by
OIS’s in-house counsel ardidressed to Echeverfiaraising issues that “went to
the heart of Madoff's Ponzi schen@{but that were ignored both by OIS and

Banco Santander. Moreover, Bancot@ader “was deeply involved in risk

226 SeeSAC 19 335-340.
22 Seeidf 87.
228 Seeid.

229 Seeidf 89.



management at OIS® its Internal Audit team oversaw OIS’s risk controls.
Finally, Banco Santander was “an activel antegral participant in preparing,
drafting and making false representations to Plaintifsihd actively marketed
Optimal U.S. based on the Banco Santander rf&mEhus, Plaintiffs have
adequately alleged that Banco Saner substantially assisted OIS’s fratfd.
However, Plaintiffs fail to stata claim against Santander U.S. for

aiding and abetting OIS’s fraud, aléegedly perpetrated upon the Pioneer

230 |d. 7 258. In an October 2008 presentation about Optimal U.S., OIS
emphasized repeatedly the pervasive role of its corporate parent, Banco Santander.
See id.“Optimal U.S. October 2008 Presentation,” Ex. 21 to SAC. That
presentation was distributed to inv@stby OIS, Santander U.S., and other
subsidiaries of Banco Santander,hetit regard for corporate structure and
formalities. SeeSAC | 244.

231 SeeSAC 11 259-261.
232 Id. 9 338.
233 See idfq 257-259.

234 Defendants do not explicitly attaékaintiffs’ aiding and abetting

claim for failure to allege Banco Santder’s “actual knowledge of the underlying
fraud,” a required elemeniVinnick 406 F. Supp. 2d at 252. However, as noted
above see suprdart VI.B.2, in their discussion of Plaintiffs’ fraud claims,
Defendants argue that “Plaintiffs have fdil® allege that any Defendant knew the
alleged misrepresentations were falseférring the Court to their discussion of
OIS’s and Clark’s scienter but failing tosduss in any detail Plaintiffs’ allegations

as to whether Banco Santander actédl tihe requisite level of scienter.

Therefore, if and when Defendants révikis argument in the context of (once
again) moving to dismiss Plaintiffs’ fraud claims, they are invited to seek dismissal
of Plaintiffs’ aiding and abetting claims on this ground as well.
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Plaintiffs. The SAC focuses entirely on Santander U.S’s marketing and sales
efforts directed toward the private banking clients of Santander U.S. and other
Santander affiliates — not the Pioneer Plaintiffs.”* In the absence of any
allegations rendering plausible the inference that the Pioneer Plaintiffs’ injury was
a direct or reasonably foreseeable result of Santander U.S.’s conduct,” this claim
fails.
VII. CONCLUSION

For the aforementioned reasons, and for reasons that will be explained
at a conference scheduled for May 10, 2011, at 3:30 p.m., Defendants’ motion to
dismiss is granted in part and denied in part. The Clerk of Court is directed to

close this motion (Docket No. 14).

Dated: New York, New York
May 2, 2011

2 See id 19 246-257.
56 See, e.g., Kolbeck, 939 F. Supp. at 249.
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